IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 06-1762

JESSIE LEVON DYSON,

Petitioner,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit Of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

HOWARD K. BLUMBERG Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Jessie Levon Dyson, was the appellant in the district court of appeal and the defendant in the Circuit Court. Petitioner, State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court of appeal, and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. In this brief, the symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal, the symbol "TR" will be used to designate the transcripts of proceedings, and the symbol **A**A@ will be used to designate the Appendix to this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jessie Levon Dyson was charged with first degree murder of Otis Ridley, and attempted first degree murder of Tangela Wooden (R. 20-22). The evidence presented by the State at trial established that shots were fired at Ridley and Wooden as they were driving on a street in Northwest Miami shortly after midnight (TR. 397-399). The shots shattered the glass in the front passenger door (TR. 403). Ridley suffered a single gunshot wound to the chest which caused his death (TR. 891, 894).

A jury subsequently returned verdicts finding Dyson guilty as charged of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder (R. 210-211). The court entered adjudications of guilt based on the jury's verdicts (R. 212). Over the objection of defense counsel, the court sentenced Dyson to life imprisonment for first degree murder of Ridley, and a consecutive sentence of life imprisonment as a habitual felony offender for attempted first degree murder of Wooden (R. 219-222, 226-229, 247-250, 275-281). Notice of appeal was filed (R. 225).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's imposition of a habitual felony offender sentence based on Dyson's commission of attempted first degree murder of Wooden, consecutive to a mandatory life imprisonment sentence for the first degree murder of Ridley in the same shooting spree:

We also reject the claim that the court improperly imposed a habitual felony offender sentence, based on defendant's commission

2

of attempted first degree murder occurring in the same shooting spree, consecutive to, rather than concurrent with, a mandatory life in prison sentence for the first degree murder of another victim. *Cheatham v. State*, 659 So.2d 287 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), is exactly on point and mandates this result. *See Downs v. State*, 616 So.2d 444 (Fla.1993); *see also Roberts v. State*, 923 So.2d 578 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); *cf. State v. Ferreira*, 840 So.2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). Affirmed.

(A. 2).

A motion for rehearing was filed on June 19, 2006, and denied on August 18, 2006. Notice of invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed August 31, 2006. On October 31, 2006, this Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In its decision in this case, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's imposition of a habitual felony offender sentence based on the defendant's conviction of attempted first degree murder, consecutive to a mandatory life imprisonment sentence for the first degree murder of another victim in the same shooting spree. This Court squarely held in *Pangburn v. State*, 661 So.2d 1182 (Fla.1995) that a sentence imposed under the habitual offender statute cannot run consecutively to a sentence imposed on a first degree murder conviction. Accordingly, the decision of the district court of appeal in this case approving the imposition of such consecutive sentences must be quashed.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER CONSECUTIVE TO A SENTENCE FOR FIRST DEGREE MURDER WHERE BOTH CRIMES AROSE FROM THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE.

In *Hale v. State*, 630 So.2d 521, 524 (Fla.1993), *cert. denied*, 513 U.S. 909 (1994), this Court held that sentences for multiple crimes arising from a single criminal episode cannot be both enhanced under the habitual felony offender statute and imposed consecutively. The defendant in *Hale* was convicted of sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine with intent to sell based on his sale of a small quantity of cocaine to a confidential informant. At sentencing the defendant was found to qualify for sentencing as a habitual violent felony offender. The trial judge sentenced the defendant to two consecutive twenty-five year habitual violent felony offender terms, one term for the conviction on the charge of sale of cocaine and another term for the conviction on the charge of possession of the same cocaine, with each sentence carrying a ten-year minimum mandatory sentence.

On review by this Court, the defendant asserted that this Court's prior decision in *Daniels v. State*, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla.1992) required a reversal of the trial court's imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. This Court agreed with the defendant's assertion:

For the same rationale set out in *Daniels* we find that Hale's enhanced maximum sentences must run concurrently. In *Daniels* we recognized that

by enacting sections 775.084 and 775.0841, Florida Statutes (Supp.1988), the legislature intended to provide for the incarceration of repeat felony offenders for longer periods of time. However, this is accomplished by enlargement of the maximum sentences that can be imposed when a defendant is found to be an habitual felon or an habitual violent felon.

Id. Thus, the legislative intent is satisfied when the maximum sentence for each offense is increased. We find nothing in the language of the habitual offender statute which suggests that the legislature also intended that, once the sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single criminal episode have been enhanced through the habitual offender statutes, the total penalty should then be further increased by ordering that the sentences run consecutively.

* * * * *

We conclude that, under the statutory penalty for each offense, the trial court may sentence this defendant separately for possession, and sentence him separately for the sale, and make each sentence consecutive to the other. However, the trial court is not authorized, in our view, to both enhance Hale's sentence as a habitual offender and make each of the enhanced habitual offender sentences for the possession and the sale of the same identical piece of cocaine consecutive, without specific legislative authorization in the habitual offender statute.

630 So.2d at 524-525.

In *State v. Hill*, 660 So.2d 1384 (Fla.1995), the defendant was convicted of burglary of an unoccupied vehicle, grand theft of a motor vehicle, and possession of burglary tools. The trial judge sentenced the defendant as a habitual violent felony offender to ten years on each conviction with the sentences to run

consecutively. On appeal, the district court of appeal reversed the consecutive sentences. This Court approved the decision of the district court of appeal, and held that *Hale* precludes under all circumstances the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode for habitual felony offenders. In so holding, this Court rejected the State's argument that an exception to *Hale* should be made where the resulting sentence is clearly less than the sentence provided in the sentencing guidelines:

We issued *Hale* in 1993. *Daniels* was issued in 1992. To date, the legislature has not enacted legislation modifying the statute upon which the holding in those cases was based. Until it does so, we find that a trial court is without authority to enhance sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single criminal episode by both sentencing a defendant as a habitual offender and ordering that the sentences be served consecutively. As to the State's request that we create an exception to this rule for the circumstances presented here, we find that such an exception is not within our authority and that any change in the law regarding enhanced sentences is solely within the province of the legislature.

660 So.2d at 1386 (footnotes omitted).

Finally, in *Pangburn v. State*, 661 So.2d 1182 (Fla.1995), this Court addressed the issue of the imposition of consecutive sentences under circumstances nearly identical to those in the case at bar. The trial judge in *Pangburn* sentenced the defendant to death for one count of first degree murder, to life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years for a second count of first degree murder, and to life imprisonment for the robbery conviction with a

minimum mandatory sentence of fifteen years, with the sentences to run consecutively. This Court held that the habitual offender sentence for robbery was required to run concurrently with the sentences imposed for the first degree murder convictions:

[A]ppellant contends that the trial judge erred in imposing a minimum mandatory sentence for the robbery conviction to run consecutively to the two murder sentences. As the State concedes, this was reversible error under our decision in *Hale v. State*, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla.1993) (minimum mandatory sentences resulting from enhancement under habitual offender statute and imposed for crimes arising out of same criminal episode may only be imposed concurrently, not consecutively), *cert. denied*, 513 U.S. 909, 115 S.Ct. 278, 130 L.Ed.2d 195 (1994). Although we affirm the minimum mandatory sentence of fifteen years on the robbery charge, we hold that the sentence must run concurrently rather than consecutively to the sentences imposed on the two first-degree murder convictions.

661 So.2d at 1187. *See also State v. Ferreira*, 840 So.2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003)(*Hale* barred the imposition of consecutive sentences of life in prison without parole for first degree murder and a thirty year prison term as a habitual offender for attempted armed robbery); *Parks v. State*, 701 So.2d 653 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)(habitual violent offender sentences on three robbery convictions were required to run concurrently with life sentence with twenty-five year mandatory minimum for first degree murder).

In the present case, the defendant was sentenced on a first degree murder conviction to life in prison without parole, and was also classified as a habitual offender and sentenced to a consecutive term of imprisonment on a conviction for an attempted murder committed in the same criminal episode. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in the present case affirming the imposition of these consecutive sentences is directly contrary to this Court's holding in *Pangburn* that *Hale* requires that a habitual offender sentence must run concurrently with, rather than consecutively to, a sentence imposed on a first degree murder conviction.¹

The district court of appeal based its ruling in this case upholding the imposition of consecutive sentences on a finding that its prior decision in *Cheatham v. State*, 659 So.2d 287 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) "is exactly on point and mandates this result." (A. 2). In *Cheatham*, the defendant was convicted of first degree murder, armed burglary of an occupied conveyance and armed robbery. The crimes were all part of the same transaction. The defendant was sentenced to consecutive minimum mandatory terms of twenty-five years of a life sentence for the murder charge and fifteen years as a habitual violent felony offender on the armed burglary and armed robbery convictions. The district court of appeal upheld the imposition of consecutive sentences because the mandatory minimum term for first degree murder and the mandatory minimum term under the habitual offender statute addressed "separate and distinct evils":

¹ The legality of a sentence is a question of law and is subject to de novo review. *Stoute v. State*, 915 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *Flowers v. State*, 899 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005).

In our view, the consecutive minimum mandatory terms were permissible under *Downs v. State*, 616 So.2d 444 (Fla.1993) because the statutory provisions in question address "separate and distinct evils." *Downs*, 616 So.2d at 446-that is, "killing someone," 616 So.2d at 446, as to the murder conviction, and recidivism, see *Hicks v. State*, 595 So.2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), as to the defendant's status as a habitual offender. *See Downs*, 616 So.2d at 444 (consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for first degree murder and using a firearm in the commission of aggravated assault permissible); *Bonaventure v. State*, 637 So.2d 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for first degree murder and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon permissible).

659 So.2d at 288.

The decision of the Third District in *Cheatham*, like the decision of that court in the present case, cannot be reconciled with the decision of this Court in *Pangburn*.² This Court squarely held in *Pangburn* that a sentence imposed under the habitual offender statute cannot run consecutively to a sentence imposed on a first degree murder conviction.

This Court's decision in *Downs v. State*, 616 So.2d 444 (Fla.1993) does not support the imposition of consecutive sentences for first-degree murder and a sentence enhanced under the habitual offender statute. In *Downs*, this Court approved the imposition of consecutive mandatory minimum sentences imposed for first degree murder and for a non-capital felony committed with the use of a firearm. Neither of the sentences imposed in *Downs* were enhanced under the

² This Court issued its decision in *Pangburn* after the Third District issued its decision in *Cheatham*. The decision of the Third District in the case at bar does not mention *Pangburn*.

habitual offender statute. That being the case, the rationale of this Court's decision in *Hale* did not apply to preclude the imposition of consecutive sentences in *Downs*. As this Court explained in *Boler v. State*, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla.1996), whether a minimum mandatory sentence contained in an enhancement statute and a statutorily-required minimum mandatory sentence can be imposed consecutively is a different question than whether two different statutorily-required minimum mandatory sentences can be imposed consecutively. In *Boler*, this Court held that the defendant's statutorily required mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years for first-degree murder had to run concurrently with his three-year minimum mandatory term under the enhancement statute for use of a firearm during the commission of a felony.

The case at bar, as well as the prior decision of the Third District in *Cheatham*, involve the question of whether a sentence enhanced under the habitual offender statute and a life sentence for first degree murder with a statutorily-required minimum mandatory sentence can be imposed consecutively. This Court answered this question in *Pangburn* and held that such sentences cannot be imposed consecutively. Accordingly, the decision of the district court of appeal in this case approving the imposition of such consecutive sentences must be quashed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, authorities and arguments, petitioner respectfully requests this Court to quash the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal affirming the consecutive sentences imposed by the trial court and remand this case with instructions that the defendant's sentences be ordered to run concurrently.