IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC06-1762 Lower Case No. 3D04-1034

JESSIE LEVON DYSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

DDIEE OF DECDONDENT ON THE MEDITO

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM. Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 230987 Bureau Chief Criminal Appeals

LAURA MOSZER
Florida Bar No. 528951
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650
Miami, Florida 33131
Tel. (305) 377-5441
Fax. (305) 377-5655

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

Summary of the Argument

The trial court did not err when it sentenced Appellant consecutively to life imprisonment for first degree murder and to life imprisonment for attempted first degree murder as a habitual felony offender when Appellant shot into a car causing injuries to multiple victims in a single criminal episode. The reasoning of *Palmer*, Hale and Daniels does not proscribe the imposition of a single habitual offender life sentence for attempted murder to run consecutive to a non-habitual life sentence because no increased term of incarceration or minimum mandatory term results from habitualizing a life felony. In addition, the separate evils doctrine allows for stacking of consecutive mandatory sentences when the sentences address separate evils. Here, the sentences addressed the separate evils of killing a Furthermore, the sentences are permitted because person and recidivism. Appellant committed two separate and distinct crimes with two separate victims. Consecutive sentences have been found permissible under similar facts in *State v*. Finally, the consecutive sentences should be Christian and Sousa v. State. affirmed because there was no actual effect caused by habitualizing the life sentence for attempted first degree murder under Fla. Stat., §775.084(4)(a)(1). Appellant received no enhancement beyond the maximum sentence which could have been imposed on a non-habitual offender.

Argument

The trial court did not err when it imposed a habitual offender sentence for attempted first degree murder consecutive to a mandatory life sentence for first degree murder when there were two victims in the same criminal episode.

A. Palmer, Hale and their progeny

This Court first addressed stacking a three year minimum mandatory sentences in *Palmer v. State*, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983). In *Palmer*, the defendant had robbed 13 people at gunpoint and received 13 consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. *Id.* at 2. In striking down the consecutive portion of the sentence, this Court reasoned that the rule of lenity prohibited the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for crimes which occurred in a single criminal episode when there was no explicit statutory authorization to do so. *Id.* at 3. The minimum mandatory statute did not give the trial court the authority to deny a defendant the eligibility for parole for a period greater than the statute permitted. *Id.*

This Court addressed the issue of whether trial courts could impose consecutive life sentences with 15 year minimum mandatory terms for first degree felonies committed by habitual violent felony offenders in *Daniels v. State*, 595 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 1992). This Court wrote:

As in *Palmer*, the punishment for the crimes committed by Daniels as specified in section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1987), contains no authorization for minimum mandatory penalties. However, the State argues that because Daniels was found to be an habitual violent felony offender, the statute setting the punishment for his crimes is section 775.084, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), which authorizes minimum mandatory sentences. This is a close call, but we believe that Daniels=sentences more nearly fall within the principle of *Palmer* than they do Enmund and Boatwright. Because the statute prescribing the penalty for Daniels= offenses does not contain a provision for a minimum mandatory sentence, we hold that his minimum mandatory sentences imposed for the crimes he committed arising out of the same criminal episode may only be imposed concurrently and not consecutively. Id. at 953-954.

Relying upon *Daniels*, the *Hale* Court wrote:

We find that the same principle applies in the instant case. None of the statutes under which Hale was sentenced contain a provision for a minimum mandatory sentence. *Id.* at 524.

In the instant case, Appellant was convicted of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder. The first degree murder statute requires a defendant be sentenced either to death or life imprisonment without the eligibility for parole. Fla. Stat., §775.082(1). Therefore, unlike in *Daniels* and *Hale*, Appellant was sentenced under a statute that contained a provision for a minimum mandatory sentence, i.e., life imprisonment without parole. Appellant=s consecutive sentences were outside the scope of *Daniels* and *Hale*.

However if this Court finds that *Daniels* and *Hale* apply to the instant case,

it should still affirm the district court. This Court's reasoning in *Hale* was that the legislative intent to provide enlarged sentences to habitual offenders. *Id.* at 524 citing §775.084. This Court reasoned that the legislative intent was satisfied when the maximum sentence was increased and that there was nothing in the habitual offender statute that suggested that the legislature intended that total penalty should be increased by ordering the sentences run consecutively. *Id.* See also *Kiedrowski v. State*, 876 So. 2d 692, 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

Under the reasoning in *Hale*, Appellant's sentence should be affirmed. There is no increased term of incarceration nor is there a minimum mandatory sentence which results from habitualizing a life felony. Therefore, the reasoning of *Hale* does not proscribe the imposition of a single habitual offender life sentence for attempted murder to run consecutive to a non-habitual offender life sentence for first degree murder.

Appellant asserts that this Court addressed a "nearly identical" sentence in *Pangburn v. State*, 661 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 1995). Appellant misreads *Pangburn*. In *Pangburn*, the defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years for a murder conviction, and to life imprisonment for a robbery conviction with a minimum mandatory sentence of fifteen years, with all sentences to run consecutively. *Id.* at 1185. He contended that the trial court erred in imposing a *minimum mandatory sentence* for a robbery

conviction to run consecutively to two murder sentences. *Id.* at 1187. This Court affirmed the minimum mandatory sentence of fifteen years on the robbery charge, but held that the sentence must run concurrently rather than consecutively to the sentences imposed on the two first-degree murder convictions. *Id.*

The facts in the instant case are distinguishable from those in *Pangburn*. Here, the habitualization did not trigger a minimum mandatory sentence for attempted 1st degree murder or otherwise change the sentence which a similarly situated non-habitualized defendant could have received. This Court in *Pangburn* held that the imposition of consecutive sentences was impermissible because of the minimum mandatory portion of the sentence. The habitual offender enhancement for a life felony carries no minimum mandatory sentence: "in the case of a life felony or a felony if the first degree, [imprisonment] for life." The statute only provides a ceiling not a floor. Fla. Stat., §775.084(4)(a). Therefore, *Pangburn* cannot support overturning Appellant's sentence.

B. Separate Evils

This Court first utilized the separate evils doctrine to permit reclassification of 2nd degree murder with a firearm as a life felony and to impose a minimum mandatory sentence in *State v. Whitehead*, 472 So. 2d 730, 731 (Fla. 1985). In *Whitehead*, a district court had ruled that to do so was an impermissible double

enhancement. This Court disagreed. Id.

The *Whitehead* court examined the subsection of §775.087 that permitted reclassification of 1st degree felony to a life felony when a defendant possessed a firearm and the subsection that imposed a three year minimum mandatory sentence. *Id.* This Court found that there was nothing in the statute to indicate that the legislature intended the two subsections to be mutually exclusive. *Id* at 732. The Court reasoned that different purposes were being served by the two subsections. *Id.* One subsection allowed for increased punishment and the other ensured that a defendant would serve at least three years of his sentence. *Id.* The Court ruled that:

"the determination of punishment for crimes is a legislative matter. Because the legislature has provided both subsections, both are to be followed. Absent an indication from the legislature that these subsections are an either/or proposition, both subsections are to be followed." *Id.*

Appellant's sentence is permitted because the legislature has not indicated that provisions he was sentenced under are mutually exclusive. Each statute serves a distinctly separate purpose. One seeks to punish individuals who commit murder; the other seeks to punish repeat criminal conduct. In the absence of a contrary legislative intent, two statutory provisions should be read *in pari materia*. The legislature provided punishments under two separate sections. Statutes which

relate to the same or closely related subjects should be read *in pari material*. See generally *State v. Fuchs*, 769 So. 2d 1006, 1009 (Fla. 2000).

Furthermore, this Court has addressed the question of whether a court could stack minimum mandatory sentences of capital felonies with non-capital felonies committed with a firearm which occurred during the same criminal episode. *Downs v. State*, 616 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1993). This Court reasoned that rather than being an enhancement, the capital felony minimum mandatory sentence Ais the statutorily required penalty for each capital felony. *Id.* at 446 citing *State v. Boatwright*, 559 So. 2d 210, 213 (Fla. 1990).

The *Downs* court applied the rationale of *Boatwright* and held that the applicable minimum mandatory sentences, twenty-five years for the former crime and three years for using a firearm during the commission of the latter, address two separate and distinct evils—*killing someone and using a firearm*. *Id.* The *Downs* court focused on the fact that the defendant had committed two separate and distinct criminal acts and that, therefore, two separate and distinct penalties could be imposed. *Id.* The *Downs* court then stated that it would have been improper to add a three year minimum for using a firearm to the already imposed capital minimum mandatory. This Court also distinguished the facts in *Downs* from those in *Daniels* by recognizing the separate and distinct crimes that both required a minimum mandatory sentence. *Id.*

Like the defendant in *Downs*, Appellant committed two separate and distinct crimes with two separate victims. Like the sentence in *Downs*, the sentence that Appellant received addresses separate evils: killing someone and recidivism. Because the statutory provisions that the sentences are based upon address two separate evils, Appellant's consecutive sentences are permitted.

Relying upon *Downs*, the Third District Court of Appeal issued *Cheatham v.*State, 659 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994):

In our view, the consecutive minimum mandatory terms were permissible under *Downs v. State*, 616 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 1993) because the statutory provisions in question address Aseparate and distinct evils. *Downs*, 616 So. 2d at 446--that is, Akilling someone, 616 So. 2d at 446, as to the murder conviction, and recidivism, *see Hicks v. State*, 595 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), as to the defendants status as a habitual offender. *Id.* at 288.

Here, the issue is identical to the issue in *Cheatham*. Appellants consecutive sentences are appropriate because his convictions also address separate and distinct evils, i.e. Akilling someone and Arecidivism. Because *Downs* and *Cheatham* closely mirror the sentence here and because the rule established in *Hale* and *Daniels* applies only to cases that have been enhanced beyond the statutory maximum, Appellants consecutive sentences are appropriate. In the instant case, the district court used the doctrine of separate evils as discussed in *Cheatham* and *Downs* as the basis for its ruling. *Dyson*, 934 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006).

C. Separate Victims, One Criminal Episode

Florida Statute '775.021(4)(a) expressly permits consecutive sentences:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:
 - 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
 - 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
 - 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Appellant=s consecutive sentences here complied with the statutory provisions above. He committed 1st degree murder against Otis Ridley and attempted 1st murder against Tangela Wooden; two separate and distinct crimes with two separate victims.

Florida case law also supports the consecutive portion of the sentence. This Court has found that consecutive enhanced sentences arising from a single episode. Appellant cites *State v. Hill*, 660 So. 2d 1384 (Fla. 1995), for the proposition that *Hale* precludes the imposition of consecutive sentences for crimes arising from a single criminal episode for habitual offenders; however, Appellant overlooks both *State v. Christian*¹ and *Sousa v. State*².

In *Christian*, this Court reviewed the sentence of a defendant who had shot two victims in a single criminal episode. 692 So. 2d at 890. The trial court sentenced the defendant to concurrent 25 and 15 year terms of imprisonment with three year firearm minimum mandatory sentences consecutively. *Id.* This court held there was a general rule that stacking was permissible for offenses arising from a single episode where the firing of a weapon, a violation with a mandatory minimum, causes injury to multiple victims. *Id.* The *Christian* court reasoned that the injuries bifurcate the crimes for stacking purposes. *Id.*

This Court held that stacking of firearm mandatory minimum terms was permissible where the defendant shoots at multiple victims and impermissible where the defendant does not fire the weapon. *Id.* at 891. This rule is in

¹ 692 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1997)

² 903 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 2005)

accordance with the rule in *Palmer* where the defendant did not fire his weapon but merely brandished it during the robbery. Furthermore, this Court specifically distinguished its holding from those in *Hale* and *Daniels*. *Id*. at n3.

Additionally, in *Sousa* this Court examined the imposition of consecutive sentences with minimum mandatory sentences where the defendant shot several victims in rapid succession during a single criminal episode. 903 So. 2d at 924. This Court affirmed the consecutive sentences and held that the sentences were proper when two victims were injured in a single episode. *Id.* This Court relied on its ruling in *Christian* and found that the plain meaning of §775.087 permitted consecutive sentences where the defendant shot multiple victims. *Id.* at 928. See also, *Lifred v. State*, 643 So. 2d 94 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) ("In the case of multiple discharges of a firearm at multiple victims, there are, by definition, separate violations of each victim's rights. . . . The primary factor triggering the imposition of consecutive mandatory minimums is whether the firearm has been discharged more than once to shoot those victims.")

In addition, this Court in *Downs* cited to *State v. Thomas*, 487 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 1986), where it examined the trial court-s imposition of two consecutive three-year minimum mandatory sentences for using a firearm in committing both attempted murder and aggravated assault. Although the defendant in *Thomas* argued that *Palmer* should apply, this Court concluded that he committed two

separate and distinct offenses and upheld the sentence.

Reading the holdings of *Downs, Christian* and *Sousa* together permits the imposition of consecutive life sentences for a capital felony and a life sentence for a habitualized life felony. The victims were shot at multiple times in a single criminal episode. Their injuries were two separate and distinct offenses; therefore, stacking is permissible.

D. Effect of habitualization did not enhance Appellant's sentence

In *Hale*,³ this Court found that there was no statutory authority which allowed trial courts to impose consecutive habitual felony offender sentences for multiple offenses arising out of the same criminal episode. 630 So.2d at 524. This Court reasoned:

We find nothing in the language of the habitual offender statute which suggests that the legislature also intended that, once the sentences from multiple crimes committed during a single criminal episode have been *enhanced* through the habitual offender statutes, the total penalty should then be further increased by ordering that the sentences run consecutively. (Emphasis supplied).

The underlying reasoning of *Hale* is that once the habitual offender sentencing scheme is utilized to enhance a sentence *beyond* the statutory maximum

_

³ *Hale v. State*, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195, 115 S. Ct. 278, 130 L. Ed. 2d 195 (1994).

on multiple counts arising from a single criminal episode, consecutive sentencing may not be used to further lengthen the overall sentence. *Fuller v. State*, 867 So. 2d 469, 470 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004).

Here, Appellant was convicted of a capital felony and a life felony and sentenced to life incarceration. The penalty for 1st degree murder, a capital offense, is death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Fla. Stat., \$775.082(1) (2001). The maximum penalty for attempted 1st degree murder committed after July 1, 1995, a life felony, is a term of imprisonment for life or by imprisonment for a term of years not to exceed life imprisonment. Fla. Stat., \$775.082(3)(a)(3) (2001).

When a defendant is designated a habitual felony offender, a court may impose an extended term of imprisonment as provided by the habitual felony offender statute. Fla. Stat., \$775.084(1)(a) (2001). A sentencing court may sentence a habitual offender in the case of a life felony or a felony of the first degree, to life. Fla. Stat., \$775.084(4)(a)(1) (2001). Unlike the enhancements of the habitual violent felony offender, three time violent felony offender or violent career criminal schemes, the enhancement for habitual felony offenders does not mandate minimum mandatory sentences. See Fla. Stat., \$\$775.084(4)(b)(1), (c)(1), (d)(1) (2001).

Furthermore, Florida law expressly permits the imposition of consecutive

sentences for criminal offenses committed during one criminal transaction. Fla. Stat., §775.021(4)(a) (2001). A sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. *Id*.

In the instant case, had the sentencing judge refrained from uttering the magic words of "habitual offender," Appellant could not argue that he was sentenced illegally. The maximum sentence for a non-enhanced life felony is imprisonment for life. It is completely lawful for the sentencing judge to give the maximum sentence and make each sentence consecutive.

In Appellant's case, there is no practical effect from the sentencing as a habitual offender designation because the sentence does not exceed the maximum sentence allowable for a similarly situated non-habitualized defendant. In contrast, Appellant might have a viable argument and could claim a detrimental effect from habitualization if he had been charged with a f^t degree felony which generally carries a maximum penalty of 30 years imprisonment. Fla. Stat., §775.082(3)(b). In addition, Appellant would have been required to serve his entire sentence because defendants sentenced to life imprisonment are not entitled to gain-time and, according to statute, shall be incarcerated for the rest of their natural lives. Fla. Stat., §944.275(4)(b)(3) (2001); *Tal-Mason v. State*, 700 So. 2d 453 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 4th Dist. 1997).

The First District held that when a sentencing court uses the habitual

offender statute to enhance sentences for offenses that occur during a single criminal episode, the court may not further enhance the penalties by ordering that the individual sentence be served consecutively. *Goshay v. State*, 646 So. 2d 213 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Appellant received no enhancement beyond the maximum sentence which could have been imposed on a non-habitual offender and therefore should be entitled to no relief.

Appellant has not shown that he has been subjected to any enhancement because of his designation as a habitual offender. Appellant's sentence can be distinguished from a case were a defendant was sentenced to a term beyond the unenhanced statutory maximum and then stacked consecutively. For example, the defendant in Kiedrowski v. State was charged with two 3^d degree felonies and sentenced on one count as a habitual offender to 10 years and consecutively on the second count to two years. 876 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The court reasoned that because 12 years exceeded the statutory maximum if both sentences had been enhanced under §775.084 and run concurrently or if neither statute had been enhanced and run consecutively. Id at 694. In the instant case, Appellant could have received life imprisonment on both counts even if he had not been habitualized and been sentenced consecutively. Therefore, the sentence does not violate the dictates of *Hale*.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence.